

# Ready-made Meals and Housewifery: Precooked Food as a Tool of Contemporary Japanese Housewife's Affirmation

Adamo, Aurora

#### Citation

Adamo, A. (2023). Ready-made Meals and Housewifery: Precooked Food as a Tool of Contemporary Japanese Housewife's Affirmation.

Version: Not Applicable (or Unknown)

License: License to inclusion and publication of a Bachelor or Master Thesis,

2023

Downloaded from: <a href="https://hdl.handle.net/1887/3642087">https://hdl.handle.net/1887/3642087</a>

**Note:** To cite this publication please use the final published version (if applicable).



# Ready-made Meals and Housewifery

Precooked Food as a Tool of Contemporary Japanese Housewife's Affirmation

# Master's Thesis

Submitted in accordance with the requirement of the Master in Asian Studies

At Leiden University

Submitted by: Aurora Adamo

S3318109

Track: Politics, Society and Economy of Asia (MA) (60EC)

Word count: 15257

Supervisor: Dr. Guita Winkel

# **Table of Contents**

INTRODUCTION	3
THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK: food, family and gender roles	4
METHODOLOGY	7
CHAPTER 1. CONTEMPORARY JAPANESE HOUSEWIFE	8
1.2. Changes in Japanese family arrangements	8
1.2. The housewife crisis and contemporary household dynamics	10
1.3. The new housewife	13
CHAPTER 2. READY-MADE MEALS AND THE JAPANESE HOUSEHOLD	17
2.1. The industry and its consumers	17
2.2. Ready-made meals and homemade food decline	20
2.3. Ready-made food as hybrid	22
CHAPTER 3: READY-MADE AND HOUSEWIFERY	26
3.1. Ready-made and traditional notion of motherhood	26
3.2. Japanese women attitude towards side dishes	28
3.3. Shifting dynamics	31
CONCLUSION	34
BIBLIOGRAPHY	37

#### INTRODUCTION

Ready-made food is a type of instant meals that is currently trending in Japan. The distinctive feature of this highly diversified typology of food is that the meals are precooked, prepacked and meant to be eaten without any additional preparation. Today, the ready-made food market includes different types of pre-cooked food, ranging from simple snacks to side dishes and entire meals, like lunch and dinner boxes (Japan Ready-made Meal Association 2022).

Considered as the most influential invention of 20<sup>th</sup> century Japan, precooked and instant food played a fundamental role in revolutionizing Japanese eating habits (Motoko 1989, 207).

Appearing in Japan in the 1980s, ready-made food was understood as a form of convenience food, and provoked a negative moral response among both the Japanese institutions and public opinion (Solt 2012).

The use of premade meals in place of home-made eating practices was conceived as a "morally bankrupt" form of cooking associated with sloppiness or a lack of care for health and wellbeing, especially in regards of Japanese housewives (Jackson et al. 2018). The negative correlation between lazy housewife and ready-made food consumption within the household remained grounded in the common imaginary throughout all the period of economic growth. During those years, the conservative ideal of the perfect housewife was still a fundamental aspect of Japanese society. In the domestic setting, the typical Japanese woman was characterized by a strong sense of sacrifice for the sake of her children and husband, showing an unwavering commitment to households' matters. One of the ways through which the Japanese housewife conveyed her dedication, devotion and affection towards her family was by preparing and serving homemade meals (Nakano and Wagatsuma 2005).

However, with the changing needs of Japanese people and the spread of a high demand for quick and convenient food in the market after the burst of the bubble, ready-made food gained more and more popularity, reaching, together with dining out, more than the 60% of all household food expenditures (Statistics Bureau of Japan 2018). The growing popularity of precooked food coincided with a shifting perception of its consumption. Since the beginning of the 21<sup>st</sup> century, the contested category of pre-made food has started to be reframed in a more positive light (see Jackson et al. 2018). Nowadays, the use of precooked meals within and outside the household has become normalized and widely accepted.

Accordingly, the use of pre-made food by Japanese mother began to be endorsed, marking the slowly disappearance of previous moral discourses about the duty of the mother to provide authentic Japanese home-made food to the family as a form of love, care and benevolence

(Goldstein-Gidoni 2018). Traditional cooking practices embedded with the figure of good motherhood and housewife, like the preparation of obento lunch-boxes (Allison 1991), have been gradually substituted by pre-made meals options. In the meantime, the figure of Japanese housewife confined to the domestic environment and in charge of taking care of the family has become more and more obsolete, and the gender roles division that characterized the Japanese family of the economic boom decades went missing, in favor of new household's dynamics (see Kumagai and Keyser 1996; Nonoyama 2000).

The aim of my research is to analyze how the consumption of ready-made food helped reshape the role of housewives and domesticity in contemporary Japanese households.

My hypothesis is that the use of pre-made meals have challenged traditional notions of good motherhood and housewifery, and contributed to the emergence of a new type of housewife, impacting gender dynamics within Japanese households, and reflecting broader societal changes. In my research I will highlight how precooked meals have acted as an ideological and cultural tool in the reshaping of womanhood in Japanese households. My study will show how the widespread use of precooked food and its positive perception contributed to redefining the image of women in the Japanese family, fostering the emergence of a new type of housewife and reshaping their relationships with other family members.

To do so, I will first introduce the contemporary Japanese family, focusing on the new internal dynamics and the emergence of a new housewife. After examining the family context, I will move on to the exposure of the ready-made meals and their use within Japanese homes. Finally, in the last part of my thesis, I will point out the relationship between the use of precooked food and housewifery, showing the threats to traditional concepts of motherhood and the controversies caused by this. In the conclusion, I will be able to show how the use of precooked food has fostered the rise of a new type of housewife.

# THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK: food, family and gender roles

Social anthropologists have explored food consumption practices as embedded in cultural rituals that marked societies in several dimension. The socio-cultural significance of food consumption has been widely analyzed within the family context, as it provides a window into the cultural and social dynamics of a given society. From a sociological perspective, food consumption patterns within families can reflect broader societal trends and values, such as

changing gender roles, and the role of food in shaping identity and social status (Murcott 1982; Charles and Kerr 1988; DeVault 1991; Gregory 1999). Anthropologists, on the other hand, are often interested in the cultural meanings attached to food consumption within families, such as the social significance of certain foods, and the ways in which food can be used to build and reinforce social relationships (Delphy 1980; Fieldhouse 1986; Mennell et al. 1992). Both sociological and anthropological perspectives recognize the importance of food consumption within families as a site of social and cultural meaning-making, reflecting and shaping the social world in which we live.

In the Japanese context, the cultural expectations and norms concerning food and family have been closely tied up with the concept of motherhood, being subject of several studies (White 1987; Iwao 1993; Akiko and Yoda 1993; Dickensheets 1996; Jolivet 1997; Negayama 2000; Sand 2003; Sato 2003). These expectations are based on the ideal of the *ryōsai kembo* (good wife and wise mother), a fundamental aspect of both the Japanese household and society. This model of motherhood was proposed with the emergence of the mass culture during Meiji period (Sato 2003), and perceived as the "nation's most important job" of mid-twenty century Japan (White 1987, 154). The ideology of "good wife, wise mother" stood upon a specific gender role division of labor within the household, where the man was the working force and the woman was in charge of ensuring the welfare of the family (Sato 2003). Nishimura (2001) provided a sociological description of housewifery, analyzing the role of housewife as a real institution constituted of systems of meanings, material structure, and practices. According to the author, it is through this set of practices that the housewife constructs and maintains her status and image in the daily life (p.231).

The ideal Japanese *oka-san* (mother) is expected to be a skilled housewife who takes full responsibility for managing the household and caring for its family members. One of her primary duties is the preparation and provision of food, which is seen as a crucial way for her to express her dedication to her family (Dickensheets 1996). In fact, food preparation is closely tied to the concept of "good motherhood" in Japan, with mothers expected to provide nutritious homemade meals to their families. Being an accomplished housewife meant being able to "give her family flavour and variety" through her cooking skills (Jolivet 1997, 91).

Older traditional documents on household management emphasize the significance of providing fresh and seasonal dishes for the well-being of family members, which ultimately contributes to the happiness and harmony of the household (see Beeton 2015).

The serving of fresh homemade food was not only a way to ensure the well-being of the family, but it also worked as a mean to establish relationship within the family members and express the status of the mother.

Allison (1991), highlighted the ideological implication embedded in the preparation of school lunch boxes (*bento box*) and how it helped constructing the relationship mother-child. In her work, the traditional practice of bento boxes was part of a cultural process that defined the role of motherhood and her duty. In her study of traditional Japanese women imagery, Iwao (1993) outlined the function of home food preparation as a measure to estimate the quality of a mother in relation to her children. Jolivet (1997) analyzed housewife's food making and serving practices as the opportunity to express their love for their children. Finally, in her study of mother-infant feeding interaction, Negayama (2003) analyzed nurturing practices as a "communicative situation of control, conflict, cooperation, and/or negotiation between them, which reveals cultural fundamental of mother-infant relationships." (p.59).

Besides the dimension of mother-child interactions, serving homemade food was also a key element in the relationship between wife and husband. Throughout the late 19<sup>th</sup> century and early 20<sup>th</sup> century, the preparation of homemade food by housewife was still characterized by a strong moral and physiological relevance, where a woman's great cooking skills were part of the requirements for a successful marriage (Sand 2003). Through the preparation of distinctive homemade food, the housewife claimed her position in the family as responsible for the general well-being, as well as fulfilling her husband's needs.

The studies above mentioned explored the cultural significance of homemade culinary practices and how they are used to reinforced gender roles and maternal duties, at the basis of the myth of Japanese motherhood (Akiko and Yoda 1993). No studies have yet been conducted on how new eating practices trend may be intertwined with the developments of gender roles and expectations within Japanese contemporary society.

My research aims at highlighting the potential of pre-made meals use in Japanese families as a tool to disrupt the traditional gender roles and expectations around domesticity. Precooked meals, which are prepared in advance and require minimal cooking or preparation, offer a convenient and time-saving alternative to traditional home cooking.

In my thesis, I aim to illuminate the evolving cultural significance of housewifery in contemporary Japan in relation to the replacement of homemade food with prepackaged meals. To this purpose, I will show how the use of pre-made food has challenged traditional notions of good motherhood and housewifery, as it can be seen as a departure from the ideal "wise

housewife", skilled in all domestic tasks, and "good mother" who sacrifices herself for the wellbeing of her family. In a society where food preparation practices have become intertwined with the image and perception of women, the widespread use of pre-made meals can be interpreted as a means of reshaping womanhood within the contemporary Japanese family. The aim of my work is to understand the impact of evolving food practices on gender dynamics and broader societal changes concerning housewifery in Japan.

## **METHODOLOGY**

My research will be conducted by using both quantitative and qualitative research methods. I will observe the data presented in the statistics and surveys provided by official Japanese institutions (Statistics Bureau of Japan; Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare, Cabinet Office; Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology; GAIN) to gather information about Japanese household changes, from their composition to their lifestyle preferences and food expenditures. In addition, I will use reports published by food service organizations (Japan Food Service Association, Japan Ready-Made Meal Association, The Japan Society of Food Service Studies) to understand the evolution of the side dishes market and its products, pointing out the main trends of the last decades. Other primary sources like customers' reviews and website articles will be used to understand the perception and attitude of Japanese consumers towards the use of precooked food. Finally, I will incorporate insights from previous studies and researches about motherhood and eating practices in Japan to provide a comprehensive analysis of my thesis topic.

#### CHAPTER 1. CONTEMPORARY JAPANESE HOUSEWIFE

# 1.2. Changes in Japanese family arrangements

Contemporary Japan is a society in the midst of significant change, with traditional structures of family, gender roles and household management undergoing transformation. The past decades have seen important economic, demographic and cultural shifts that have brought to the revise of the prototypical Japanese nuclear family and the flourishment of new type of households (Takeda 2003; Yamashige 2017).

According to Takeda (2003), the nuclear family can be defined as: "[...] a family consisting of a married couple exercising a sexual division of labour and a small number of children tied by emotional bonds." (p.452). Takeda argues that the typical nuclear family which characterized the decades between the mid-1950s and the mid-1970s, also called 'post-war family', definitely collapsed by the 1990s (Takeda 2003, 453).

Accordingly, the current state of Japanese households' composition differs from the past, with the appearance of new family structures. One of the most notable trends of 21st century Japanese household has been the decline in the number of members in the average household. The surveys conducted by the Statistics Bureau of Japan about the family composition have shown a steady decrease in the size of Japanese household, aggravated since 2010, with an average of 2.27 individuals per family in 2021 (Statistics Bureau of Japan 2015; Statistics Bureau of Japan 2021). This has led to an increase in the number of single-person households, as well as households with only one or two members. The spread of these new typology of family went hand in hand with the decline of the percentage of nuclear families in the country. Over a period of 15 years, nuclear-family households in Japan have decreased by 2.5 %, dropping from 58.3% to 55.9% on the total Japanese households from 2000 to 2015 (Statistics Bureau of Japan 2020, 11). The number of household members has continued to decline, dropping to 2.33 in 2015, and in 2020 one-person household covered a total of 34.6 % on the total number of households (Statistics Bureau of Japan 2020). Of the total private households, the 40.7 % was accounted to households comprising only one person aged 65 years and over (Statistics Bureau of Japan 2020, 12). In fact, another significant trend in the structure of Japan's household is the rising number of single elderly-people household, which increased by 35.6% since 1990 (Statistics Bureau of Japan 1995). This data reflects the impact of the demographic crisis and ageing of society on Japanese family composition. Another factor related to the demographic crisis that has affected the structure of Japanese family is the declining rate of births in the country. The statistics table issued by the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare shows a downward trend of the total fertility rate, marking a record dip below 1.30 in 2005, which raised to 1.36 in 2019 (Statistics Bureau of Japan 2020). Despite the apparent upturn in the last years, the rate of fertility has experienced a constant decrease since 1990. The factors that resulted in the decrease of births in Japan are related to another significant trend characteristic of 21st century Japanese society, the decrease and delay in marriages and the increase in divorces. In fact, Japanese couples have become more reluctant to marry and give birth to children, both because of the economic instability and the need for an increasing number of women to look for a job to sustain the family economy (Kingston 2004, 258). After the marriage boom during the period of economic growth in the 1970s, Japan has seen a continuous decline in the number of marriages, recording a rate of 4.8 % in 2019. In 2015, the proportion of never married people at the age of 50 was 23.4% for males and 14.1 % for females, marking the highest rate of single people in the country since 1920 (Statistics Bureau of Japan 2020, 18). Beside the single-person household, this tendency resulted in the emergence of another cultural phenomenon, the "parasite single" phenomenon, where young adults, particularly women, choose to remain living with their parents well into adulthood (see Masahiro 2001). This represents a departure from traditional expectations of marriage, with an increasing number of Japanese people deciding to pursue an unmarried life.

Beside the single lifestyle, Japanese people are also tending to get married later in life. Marriage delay is another important factor that helped shaping contemporary Japanese family. The table presented in the Handbook of Japan (2020) shows that the average age for marriage has raised since 1950, with 31.2 for males and 29.6 for women (p.18).

In contrast with these two trends, there was an upward trend about the divorces since the late 1960s, "hitting a peak of 289,836 divorced couples in 2002". After that, the number of divorces in Japan have been declining since 2003. However, the divorce rate in 2019 of 1.69 was still higher compared to the years before the early 2000s (p.19). The changes in Japanese family household composition reflects economic and socio-cultural developments, which "[...] eroded the bases of stem family households" (Kamo 1990, 399).

The prototypical Japanese nuclear family was characterized by specific internal dynamics that were rooted in Japan's traditional norms concerning gender roles and expectations (see Kamo 1990). Over the last decades, as the popularity of nuclear household decreased, the basic values of the nuclear family have slowly faded away, in tandem with the emergence of new family

structures. As a result, the rise of alternative family types and the spread of social practices such as postponed marriages, divorces and the decision to not to have children have marked significant changes in cultural norms concerning the image of the traditional family (see Takeda 2003; Nonoyama 2000 and others). This has been driven by a variety of factors, including changing social norms, economic shifts, and generational differences.

As explained throughout the paragraph, the evolution of Japanese family household composition has been strongly affected by socio-economic developments. In the next paragraph, I will analyse how the shifts in household composition reflect new dynamics within the Japanese households, impacting families' internal dynamics and relationships.

### 1.2. The housewife crisis and contemporary household dynamics

The traditional Japanese stem-family arrangement was based on a sense of shared collectivism among all the members of the household. The common goal of the family was to achieve a collective state of welfare over the individual's well-being (Kamo 1990, 399). However, despite the emphasis put on the image of stem-family as a group of individuals who acted together as a group, the responsibility for the happiness of the family rested mainly on the shoulders of the woman. As a matter of fact, the standardized concept of the "modern family" has promoted the image of women as an individual with the full responsibility to represent the ideal wife and mother of the nuclear family (Takeda 2003, 453). The notion of the traditional housewife has been deeply rooted in the concept of family and society in Japan, being a real societal role for women in Japan from the early 20th century until the latter half of the century (Sato 2003). This role was based on the expectation that women would marry and devote their lives to support their husbands and raise their children. In fact, one of the defining features of the traditional Japanese housewife was her dedication to domestic duties. She was responsible for maintaining a clean and organized household, cooking meals, and ensuring that her husband and children were well-cared for (see White 1987; Akiko and Yoda 1993; Dickensheets 1996; Goldstein-Gidoni 2018).

Furthermore, the traditional representation of motherhood and housewifery was tied up to sexual division of labour, which sees the couple of the nuclear family composed by the working salaryman and the home-stay supportive mother, reinforcing the domestication of women (Nonoyama 2000, 33). During the decades of economic progression of post-war Japan (1950s-

1970s), the presence of a supportive wife was fundamental to maintain the stability not only of the household, but of the whole nation (Dickensheets 1996, 73).

To do so, the ideal Japanese housewife was expected to prioritize the needs of her family above all else, including herself. As a result, women in 20<sup>th</sup> century Japanese society were relatively disempowered in terms of their economic and political participation. However, the socioeconomic circumstances of contemporary Japan have led to more and more women joining the labour workforce. The number of employed women has progressively grown since early 21<sup>st</sup> century. In 2005, the total number of women in the labour force was around 26,000 while in 2019 was almost 30,000. Accordingly, the rate of women unemployment has almost halved, from 4.2 % in 2005 to 2.2% unoccupied women in 2019 (Statistics Bureau of Japan 2020).

The increase of women joining the labour market is one of the societal changes that affected the reshaping of Japanese family dynamics over the past decades (Hashimoto and Traphagan 2008). The traditional expectations of women prioritizing their families' needs over their personal exigencies are being challenged as working mothers struggle to balance the demands of their careers with the expectations of traditional motherhood. Takeda (2003) discussed about an ambivalent feeling that characterize contemporary Japanese women, who are in "[...] need to take part-time/full-time jobs in order to 'afford children'. Yet, they are simultaneously required to meet standards for childcare that demand total maternal commitment." (p.456) This contraposition is what characterized the 'housewifery crisis' (see Nishimura 2001; Murakami 2010). This crisis results in a spread reluctance to get married among young women, who does not want to deal with the challenges of maintaining both employment and family duties (Nagase 2006).

Nishimura (2001) pointed out an emerging sense of "incongruity" in Japanese housewives. Reporting real life experiences of Japanese housewife, he highlighted a sense of "impossibility" and "instability" of the position of a "full-time" housewife, and the binding power of embodied housework, showing a fluctuation of the housewife system (Nishimura 2001, 228).

In contrast with the spread of a sense of discomfort, the housewife crisis has had a positive impact for Japanese women empowerment and independence. The shifting role of Japanese women from passive to active contributor to the economy of the country has marked a change in women's mind-set and attitude towards work and career, with many younger Japanese women placing a higher value on work-life balance and personal fulfilment than on traditional notions of obligation to the family (Dickensheets 1996). For this reason, the phenomenon of

"parasite single", i.e., adults that decide to adopt a single life style to maintain their independence and pursue their own goals, is more common in young women (Dales 2014).

A study conducted in 2019 by Shuai Wang showed that the way women understand the influence of employment on domestic life differs according to their form of employment. However, the research confirmed that the mobilization of women is positively perceived in terms of family independence (Wang 2019).

In point of fact, the emergence of this new model of housewifery reflects a general tendency towards more individualistic practices in Japanese household dynamics. As Otsuka (1984) already pointed out in her work, the Japanese family showed an inclination towards individualisation. This trend has intensified since the beginning of the 21st century, expressed in the shift away from traditional values of collective obligation and duty towards more individualistic and self-expressive tendencies. Yamashige (2017) claimed that "the Japanese people are no longer dependent on families or communities, and they have started trying to live as free independent individuals." (p.19). Nonoyama (2000) outlined the importance of the economic recession on this shift towards "more individualized, voluntary ties" (p.9). According to the author, the labour instability caused by the economic recession has made children realized that "attaining a better living than their parents through hard work and better education was no longer guaranteed." (p.9).

This trend of individualization affected the transformation of intimacy relationships among the members of the household. Unlike the traditional nuclear family, where the bonds were more intense and emotional (Yamada 2001), contemporary alternative Japanese families show less intense mother-children and husband-wife interactions. Hashimoto and Traphagan (2008) outlined how the lowering of the expectations for parent-child relations contributed to the tendency to individualization, which seem to be the main characteristic of "postmodern families" (p.3). This trend has led to changes that went against the maternal ideal and its emphasis on the role of the sacrificed and submissive women who prioritize their children's needs above their own. Nonoyama (2000) argues that the "internal emotional integration" achieved by Japanese housewife through the devotion to housekeeping and child-rearing practices went slowly missing (p.34). In the next paragraph, I will outline how these changing dynamics have impacted the role and perception of the Japanese housewife inside and outside the household.

#### 1.3. The new housewife

In the previous section, I have pointed out the main trends that are currently characterizing contemporary Japanese families. In this paragraph, I will focus my attention on the socioeconomic developments that have resulted in the reshaping of Japanese housewives' lifestyle. Today, the maternal ideal is frequently framed by the sense of loss and nostalgia (Yoda 2000, 871). One of the changes that contributed to the reconsideration of the perception of housewifery and motherhood was definitely their entrance in the workforce.

The shift in the division of labor in the Japanese family is one of the main factors that have led to changes in the gender balance of the household (Rebick and Takenaka 2006).

The increase in women's employment has impacted the long-held assumptions about the ideal Japanese family, including the traditional assumption of role of the housewife as the caretaker of the home and family.

Modern times marked the emergence of a new type of housewife, a combination of the "self-motivated middle-class housewife and the professional working woman" who "[...] addressed disruptions that were occurring in established assumptions about gender." (Sato 2003, 114).

As discussed in the previous paragraph, the popular conception of motherhood and womanhood in general were tied up with a strict gender labor division. "When the 'good wife, wise mother' was the ideal image of them, women were excluded from the opportunity to actualize themselves through work or outside activities and therefore found vicarious fulfillment through their husbands and children." (Iwao 1993, 134).

As a consequence, the great entrance of women in the workforce led to an inevitable reconsideration of the traditional implication that had centered around the role of housewifery in Japan for centuries. The new contemporary Japanese mother is often described as more independent, career-oriented, and interested in achieving a better work-life balance than previous generations. In 1993, Iwao highlighted the emergence of a different mindset spreading among post-war generation Japanese women, who started to have mixed opinions about their role as housewives. The ideal image of the "nurturing mother holding a household together" was slowly fading away, leaving space to more modern considerations. The post-war Japanese housewife seemed to move towards a more self-centered consideration of herself, starting to "seek an identity of their own" (Iwao 1993, 270) outside of the family dynamics. In order to combine personal needs and aspiration and household management, Iwao (1993) assumed that

Japanese housewives would have tended to "take things relatively easy" (p.280) in the future, putting less effort in the household chores.

At the same time, postwar mothers still had the entire responsibility of domestic management, and they were still "expected to be the creators of comfort at home, nurturing their family with love, care, and nourishing food." (Yoda 2000, 8).

Nonetheless, the tendency of self-independence continued to grow over the years. In accordance with what Iwao said, ten years later, Sato (2003) talked about a "self-cultivation boom", that saw more and more housewives dedicating their time in practices that led to oneself-improvement outside of the household duties. This shift of attention towards different types of activities resulted in the decrease of the time that housewives spend within the domestic sphere.

According to the surveys published by Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications (2021) about time use and leisure activities of household components, women's weekly average time spent on various practices from 1976 to 2021 reveals some interesting trends. The duration dedicated to housework activities has consistently decreased over the years, starting from 3 hours and 18 minutes in 1976 to 2 hours and 26 minutes in 2021. Additionally, the time allocated to housework, caring, or nursing has also diminished, decreasing from 3.52 hours in 1976 to 3.24% in 2021. Following an opposite trend, the time spent on personal care has consistently grown, escalating from 1.07 hours in 1976 to 1.32 hours in 2021. Likewise, the duration devoted to rest and relaxation has experienced a similar upward trend, progressing from 0.58 hour to 1.56 hours in 2021. The same pattern is observed for hobbies and amusement activities (Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications 2021).

This data reflects the spread of the self-cultivation trend that Sato (2003) outlined in his work. The increasing attention of women towards personal growth activities resulted in the rise of Japanese housewife with higher education and established career before having children, who are more willing to continue to work outside the home after becoming a mother. The survey conducted by the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology in 2022 about the advancement rate to higher education reveals a significant rise in the number of Japanese women seeking higher education. Over a span of 20 years, the proportion of women enrolled in universities experienced a remarkable surge, effectively doubling in numbers. In 1990, the rate stood at 15.2%, whereas in 2022, it soared to 53.4% (Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology 2022).

Another important aspect to point out concerning the contemporary Japanese housewife is the perception of women's household duties.

The Japanese awareness survey conducted by NHK Broadcast Culture Research Institute (2018) about the perspectives of Japanese individuals regarding women's participation in the workforce unveils intriguing shifts in the interpretation of woman domesticity. In 1973, 30% of women and 41% of men believed that women should primarily focus on being homemakers. However, by 2008, this percentage had dramatically decreased to 10% for both women and men. A similar trend emerged regarding the belief that women should balance work and family. In 1973, only 20% of women and 24% of men saw this as a viable solution, whereas in 2008, the figures rose significantly to 48% of women and 51% of men. This shifting perception is shown in another survey conducted by the Cabinet Office (2017) about the thoughts of women occupation. According to the report, in 1979 almost 70% of both men and women agreed in affirming that the men was supposed to work while the woman should stay at home, rate that lowered down to 51% at the end of the 20th century and eventually reached the 40% in 2016. Although the traditional belief that men should work while women should take care of the house is still quite common among Japanese people, the results of the surveys reported are the evidence of the emergence of a new understanding of the role and duties of women inside the Japanese household.

The reconsidering of the nature of housewife together with the empowerment and improvement of Japanese women is reflected in the changing relationships between women and the members of the Japanese family. The new contemporary Japanese mother may share these responsibilities more equally with her partner or hire outside help. As shown in other surveys, in contrast with the feminine counterpart, men have shown an increase in their involvement in household chores, with a rise from 12 minutes in 1976 to nearly an hour in 2021 (Ministry of Internal Affair and Communication 2022). This implies that men are now more willing to assist with domestic tasks compared to the past. These shifting dynamics about gender responsibilities within the household has brough to a "renew attention" to the concept of fatherhood and the role of father in Japanese family. If in the past, the task of child-rearing was attributed fully to women, with the children being the *ikigai* (reason to live) of mothers, today this traditional implication is less conventional.

In this new picture, the responsibilities of child-caring are more equally shared among both parents, although in the popular opinion, child-caring is still considered mainly a woman's tasks. In fact, on the topic of child-care responsibilities, the changes were comparatively less pronounced compared to the other aspects. The percentage of both men and women considering

child-rearing as solely a mother's duty decreased from 42% in 1973 to 37% in 2008 (NHK 2008).

The survey findings provide evidence of the emergence of novel household dynamics characterized by altered perceptions of femininity, housewifery, and parental responsibilities. Iwao (1993) asserts that the profound societal transformations centered on women's inner changes can be interpreted as a revolutionary shift (p.282). In the subsequent chapter, I will explore the role of ready-made meals in contributing to this revolution in the realm of housewifery.

# CHAPTER 2. READY-MADE MEALS AND THE JAPANESE HOUSEHOLD

### 2.1. The industry and its consumers

Ready-to-eat food or meals in Japan are defined as "food or a meal that are cooked or processed outside the home and can be eaten immediately (without cooking or heating) at home, workplaces, schools, or other outdoor location." (Japan Ready-made Meal Association 2022, 3). The main feature of this typology of food is that, thanks to the use of specific technologies, its period of conservation is longer than any other meals, and they do not require any additional preparation in order to be consumed. Official reports categorized ready-made meals in the in the sub-sector of home-meal replacement (HMR) sub-sector, together with take-out foods, distinguishing them from eating out or cooking at home practices.

Appeared in the country in the 1950s, pre-cooked meals became the revolutionary convenience food of the future Japanese consumer-oriented society, emerging after the years of food shortages of the Second World War (Seligman 1994). Introduced as instant ramen at the end of the 1950s, the popularity of ready-made food reached its peak in the 1980s, when the practice of eating pre-made food became common among the majority of Japanese households (Seligman, 1994). The introduction of instant food is considered as the most influential innovation of 20<sup>th</sup> century Japan, with their fundamental role in revolutionizing Japanese eating habits (Motoko 1989, 207). With the appearance of pre-cooked food, for the first time Japanese people experienced foreign tastes and flavors without rejecting them (Seligman 1994, 174). In fact, several scholars have studied Instant meals as a mean through which Japanese people internalized and absorbed foreign foods and different primary flavors. The contact with meals coming from abroad had a huge impact on Japanese eating habits, leading to changes that led to the 'westernization' of the Japanese diet<sup>1</sup>.

Today, the ready-made market is highly diversified, offering a wide variety of products for all taste, from simple snacks to complete meals. The most popular options are bento lunch boxes, rolled sushi and fried chicken, followed by vegetables and salads (Japan Ready-made Meal Association 2022, 8). Over the last decades, the ready-to-eat sector has grown considerably, and to date the market of pre-cooked food covers a very large share of the food service industry

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For further information about the westernization of the Japanese diet see Cwiertka (2006).

in Japan. According to the data showed in The Japanese White Paper<sup>2</sup>, annual survey that has tracked the development of the ready-made market since 1980, over the past ten years the side dishes industry has experienced continued evolution and growth, driving primarily the growth of the entire Japanese foodservice market (Japan Ready-Made Meal Association 2022, 6). Other reports have shown the steady increase in the size of the prepared meal market. According to industry estimates, the sub-sector of ready-made dishes saw a marked rise of the + 5.9 % year-on-year, with a total revenue of 1,161.4 billion yen in 2017 (Hot Pepper Gourmet Restaurant Research Institute 2018).

Among the segments of the food service industry, the side dishes market is the one that experience the greatest growth in the shortest time span (Yamada Consulting Group 2020).

In 2020, the total value of all food service industry sales in Japan decreased by 26 percent to o JP¥25,517 billion (US\$239.1 billion) from JP¥34,294.4 billion (US\$321.3 billion) in the previous year, according to Fuji Keizai Marketing Research. The Japanese HRI industry, broadly defined, has ten major segments. The Takeout/HMR segment includes ready to eat meal/home meal replacement (HMR) type products sold at Obento (lunch box) shops, convenience stores, supermarkets, and department stores. Sales in this market segment have accounted for 28 percent of the HRI market. Restaurants was the second largest with nearly 18 percent of the market (Otsuka 2021, 3).

While the industry of ready-to-eat meals have grown steadily, the restaurant sector has followed an opposite trend. The survey published by the Japanese Food Service Association (2021) marked a decrease of 24.7% from the previous year to 10.978 trillion yen in the size of the Restaurants sector<sup>3</sup>. Full-service restaurants are facing several challenges, worsened with the Covid-19 pandemic, and resulted in the decrease of the number of total establishments and their sales, while the number of commercial establishments that handle side dishes is increasing, covering different business types, like grocery supermarket, department store and convenience stores (Japan Ready-made Meal 2022).

The popularity of ready-made meals upon other type of food intakes is due to the capacity of the ready-made market to adapt to the changes and diverse consumer needs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Issued by the Japan Ready-made Meal Association, The White Paper on Prepared Dishes is a survey on

prepared dishes that collects the basic data of the side dish industry, tracking the process by which prepared foods have grown as social infrastructure that is essential to the diet of consumers every year.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The breakdown is as follows: dining halls/restaurants (down 28.5% year-on-year), including family restaurants, general cafeterias, specialty restaurants, etc.; "sushi restaurants" (down 18.3% year-on-year), including conveyor belt sushi restaurants, and "other restaurants" (down 1.4% year-on-year), including fast food hamburger restaurants and okonomiyaki restaurants." (JFSA, 2021, p.1).

Surveys and reports conducted by different corporations and institutions pointed out the relation between the factors that have contributed to the steady growth of the ready-made market and the socio-cultural changes that have occurred in Japan since the beginning of the 21<sup>st</sup> century (Yamada Consulting Group 2020; Hot Pepper Institute 2018; GAIN 2016).

- 1. Urbanization: Rapid urbanization in Japan has resulted in smaller living spaces, and many city dwellers have limited access to full-fledged kitchens. Ready-to-eat meals offer a practical solution for urban consumers who may not have the means or space to cook elaborate meals at home. Furthermore, technology development and the use of electronic kitchen appliances are part of the urban life and definitely affected the changing of food consumption patterns in favor of precooked meals (Kaneda 1967, 417).
- 2. Aging Population and changes in household composition: Japan has one of the fastest aging populations in the world. Furthermore, it has experienced significant changes in its family composition, which have experienced a decrease in size, and consequent increasing ratio of single-households. Ready-to-eat meals cater to this demographic changes by providing easily accessible, pre-packaged meals that require little effort to prepare.
- 3. Increase of number of women in the labor market: with more and more women occupied in full time job, precooked meals are an optimal alternative to provide food for the family without needing too much time.

These changes have shaped Japanese consumers' preferences, that are now driven by two main factors: convenience and quickness. Side dishes perfectly meet the demand of contemporary Japanese consumers for quick and cheap food, providing convenience to busy Japanese consumers who have limited time for meal preparation due to their fast-paced lifestyles. Thanks to its adaptability to Japanese consumers' needs, ready-made meals are consumed by a broad spectrum of the population in Japan, across different demographic groups. However, among all categories, according to the statistics published by the Statistic Bureau of Japan, ready-made meals seem to be consumed more in households with younger adults both occupied in full-time jobs. In 2003, the average money spent on precooked food of households with working couples was around 73 thousand yen per year (Statistics Bureau of Japan 2003). The results of the survey published in 2022 by the same institution, showed a significant implement in the expenditures on pre-made meals made by Japanese households. On average, all households

spend 126 thousand yen per year on cooked food (Statistics Bureau of Japan 2022). Once again, households with both working couple seemed to consume more than the one with only one-working parent, reaching a peak of yearly expenses of almost 134 thousand yen. Furthermore, going more into the specific, according to the White Paper survey, which provided a breakdown by gender of the monthly purchase of side dishes in 2022, women spend more on side dishes than men. These data demonstrate that families with working mothers show the tendency to consume more processed food than others (Japan Ready-made Meal Association 2022). According to an internet questionnaire conducted by Bulk Co., Ltd. about the frequency of use of side dishes and frozen foods at home by women in their 30s and 40s reported by Sonobe (2016), households with working mothers recur to side dishes at least once a week.

In the following section, I will outline how the use of ready-made meals have impacted traditional Japanese households' eating practices.

# 2.2. Ready-made meals and homemade food decline

The growing demand for convenient and quick meal options among Japanese consumers was made at the expenses of homemade food practices. The spread of side dishes in the Japanese household contributed to the emergence of a new trend highlighted by Hasegawa and Sakai (2021) which consisted in the "externalization of food preparation", explained as "[...] dependence on food preparation and consumption outside the home and includes both readymade meals as well as the catering trade." (Hasegawa and Sakai 2021, 2). Accordingly, the reports of the Statistics Bureau of Japan showed a remarkable increase in the use of cooked food, category which experienced a steady growth over the decades, while the other typology of food, such as fresh products like meat, dairy products and vegetables, have remained either quite stable or experienced a negative downturn (Statistics Bureau of Japan 2021). In fact, the Japan Ready-made Meal Association reported an increase in the consumption of ready-made meals per person by more than 10% from about 72,800 yen to 81,796 yen from 2014 to 2019" (Japan Ready-made Meal Association 2019).

Moreover, over a period of ten years (2011-2020), the ready-made meal market experienced a growth by 117.5%, surpassing the home meal market by 2% (Japan Ready-made Meal Association 2022, 6). This data demonstrates that the expansion of side dishes is happening at the expenses of homemade meals eating practices, leading to what Ishige (2019) defines as a crisis of homemade food culture.

Eating practices in the Japanese household followed fundamental rules that went beyond the simple act of nurturing the body. A central aspect of Japanese home eating practices was the practice of eating together. In the Japanese context, eating together, practice called *kyōshoku* 共食, was the most important dietary habits in the way it built the relationship of the family and its components (Nakagawa et al. 2010). Through communal dining, Japanese households emphasize the values of respect, gratitude, and harmony. It allows family members to express their appreciation for the efforts put into meal preparation, reinforcing a sense of care and togetherness. The practice of shared commensality stood upon the serving of homemade meals. The housewife was the one in charge of preparing food, and, therefore, had the full responsibility of the success of the *kyōshoku*. As a consequence, "[...] the burden to establish a harmonious family" was heavier on women than the other members of the household (Nakagawa et al. 2010, 55-56).

The surge in female participation in the workforce is regarded as a significant incentive for the decline of homemade food culture, in opposition to the increasing trends of solitary dining and the consumption of ready-made meals (Ishige 2019). In fact, the adoption of pre-packaged food has posed challenges to the essential principles of kyōshoku in various respects. Firstly, it introduced an individualistic approach to dining. Ready-made meals were primarily seen as a convenient option for single individuals who needed a quick meal to be consumed in public settings like schools or workplaces. Otsuka (1984) observed that the use of ready-made meals, with their portioned servings, reflected a growing trend of individualization in Japanese eating practices. This shift towards "個食" (koshoku, i.e. individualized and solitary eating) was becoming increasingly prevalent in Japanese society. Notably, the consumption of prepacked meals was primarily targeted towards single individuals, and various studies have highlighted the connection between ready-made meals and the rise of solo eating practices (Otsuka 1982; Ishige 2019; Bocanegra et al. 2022). The practice of individual eating challenges the traditional value of home food culture in Japan, as it reduces the opportunities for social interaction, communication, and the strengthening of familial bonds. Recognizing the potential drawbacks of individual eating, there has been a growing awareness in Japan about the importance of communal dining and efforts to encourage shared meals, of which the promotion of the Shokuiku law<sup>4</sup> is the example. As a matter of fact, among the goals set forth by the Shokuiku

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Enacted in 2005, the Basic Act on Shokuiku (Food and Nutrition Education) aimed at improving the general knowledge of Japanese people about food and healthy food choices, in order to "enable all citizens to ensure their physical and mental health and a vigorous life" (*Basic Act on Shokuiku (Food and Nutrition Education)* 2005).

law, the importance of families eating meals together<sup>5</sup> stands out (Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries 2015, 4). However, the findings from a national survey presented in The White Paper on Shokuiku (2015), revealed that a significant portion of respondents derive pleasure from the custom of communal dining, provided they have sufficient time to enjoy the meal and can participate without incurring substantial costs (p.9). Consequently, this situation opens the door to pre-prepared alternatives, emerging as an ideal resolution to fulfil these prerequisites.

Another controversy surrounding the use of side dishes concerned its lack of freshness and naturality, which distinguish them from homemade food. Homemade food, a key element of  $ky\bar{o}shoku$ , is highly regarded for its connection to nurturing, familial warmth, and the expression of love through cooking. It symbolizes the dedication and effort put into preparing meals for family members or community members. In contrast, ready-made food is mass-produced and lacks the personal touch associated with homemade cooking.

Considering this aspect, it is possible to claim that ready-made food posed and its challenges to the fundamental aspect of *kyōshoku* represents a departure from the traditional values and practices that have long been associated with Japanese household's eating experiences.

However, the developments of the ready-made market made sure that side dishes became a valuable alternative to homemade meals, spreading in the Japanese households. In the next section, I will demonstrate the gradual replacement of homemade meals by side dishes, which have gained acceptance within households due to the evolving societal perception of ready-made options.

#### 2.3. Ready-made food as hybrid

Despite its challenges to the traditional concepts of commensality and its contrasting features, today side dishes cover a big portion of the living expenses of the Japanese household, representing a common dietary habit of the majority of Japanese families (see paragraph 1). The introduction of side dishes on the Japanese people dining table was helped by the improvements of the products. Over the last decade, the ready-to-eat industry made significant improvements in product quality.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In the Japanese literature, the notion of family meals refers to when household's members eat breakfast or dinner together (Takimoto et al. 2015, 10).

One of the critics moved against side dishes centered around their negative impact on the health and well-being of its consumers. While the widespread availability of pre-made food provides greater convenience and variety, they also led to the emergence of concerns about the impact of this typology of food on the well-being of its consumers. Several researches focused on the health outcomes that could derive from a major consumption of convenience foods, contributing to a decline in the overall health and well-being of the Japanese population (Shinozaki et al. 2023; Tamada et al. 2022; Matsumoto et al. 2021; Yagi et al. 2020). One of the main criticisms was that ready-made foods were often high in fat, salt, and sugar, which could lead to a range of health problems, including obesity, diabetes, and heart disease. For this reason, over the past decade there has been a renewed interest in creating healthier and more authentic ready-made meals. In the market, new products based on wellness are being promoted, focused on calories check and nutrients balance (Otsuka 2021).

The ready-made market has improved the freshness, quality, and variety of the take-away foods they offer, providing a more attractive menu selection to consumers for a higher price than the convenience stores (Otsuka 2021, 23). Shops that propose ready-made meals are now broadening their choices inserting series of products with low-salt and raw material based. An example is the launch in 2020 of the line of products Co-op Smile Dish, a "a series that was developed without using the 7 specified raw materials" target for families with children. Focused on the introduction of "children's menu and seasonings for side dishes, and are strengthening our lineup of products such as bone-removed fish and low-salt products." (Japan Ready-made Meal Association 2021, 16).

Another criticism was that the consumption of ready-made foods was leading to a loss of traditional food culture in Japan. Some critics argued that the convenience of these foods was causing people to rely less on traditional cooking methods and ingredients, leading to a loss of culinary heritage (Lyon, Colquhoun, and Alexander 2003; Albala and Henderson 2010; Scholliers 2015). As a response to these assessments, ready-made meal manufactures have actively worked to introduce traditional Japanese recipes into their product offerings with the aim of capturing the essence of classic Japanese dishes. Famous distributors of side dishes have started to dispatch precooked food online as authentic Japanese household recipes, like Plaza Japan.<sup>6</sup>

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Website available on the link: https://www.plazajapan.com/ready-to-eat/

Another important marketing strategy conducted by the industry was to correlate side dishes with the ideal image of handmade food. FamilyMart Co., Ltd., the Japanese-owned second largest convenience store retail chain in the world, opened in 2017 a "mother's cafeteria" based solely on the selling of ready-made meals<sup>7</sup>. The goal of the company was to propose a product that reminded the "warmth of a mother" in its naturalness and deliciousness.

Thanks to the development of the industry and the promotion of healthier and more traditional side dishes which simulate more closely homemade meals, the reputation of precooked food among Japanese consumer drastically improved. The results of the survey of the White Paper (2022) about the overall evaluation of side dishes show a recognized appreciation for the industry developments among Japanese consumers. According to the data, 62.8% of people "strongly agree" and "somewhat agree" to the claim that "the freshness has improved and the variety has increased", recording an increase in the proportion of women who agreed, being higher in all categories (p.10).

Product upgrades have coincided with wider use in Japanese households as a meal replacement. In the Japanese household context, the spread use of ready-made dishes as dinner replacements went hand in hand with the emergence of concerns about the proper use and serving of side dishes on the dinner table.

To assist homemakers in addressing this concern, multiple websites provide pre-prepared meal recipes and offer guidance on presenting accompanying side dishes as a viable alternative to a home-cooked dinner. The popular time-saving recipes are composed by side dishes to which the housewife adds a little extra, usually fresh cut vegetables or salads<sup>8</sup>. In this way, the dinner is arranged in a short time without the exclusion of little bit of effort and freshness. The result is a hybrid between a homemade recipe and a simple processed meal. It represents a smart solution for women who cannot spend too much time in the kitchen but feel the responsibility of serving food which resemble the traditional homestyle meals to the family as much as possible. The internet survey conducted by Bulk Co., Ltd. on "Lifestyles of Women in Their 30s and 40s" about cooking showed that commercial precooked dishes, especially rice or noodle base meals or stewed dishes, are considered close to homemade dishes (Sonobe 2016). Today, thanks to the development of the industry, the line between handmade and ready-made is slowly fading away. It seems that ready-made meals have reached a balance between homemade and processed, being proposed and used as a hybrid.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Information available on the official website https://www-family-co-jp.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Information available on the website: <a href="https://gourmet--note-">https://gourmet--note-</a>
jp.translate.goog/posts/14811? x tr sl=ja& x tr tl=it& x tr hl=it& x tr pto=sc

In the following chapter I will analyze the controversial relationship between ready-made meals and Japanese housewives.

#### CHAPTER 3: READY-MADE AND HOUSEWIFERY

# 3.1. Ready-made and traditional notion of motherhood

As mentioned in the previous section, one of the factors that contributed to the quick spread of side dishes in the household context is the rise of working women in the Japanese household. As the main quality of side dishes is the simplicity and quickness of their preparation, contemporary Japanese housewives with their busy lifestyle became one of the main targets of the market. Despite the popularity of prepacked food among Japanese women, the relationship between side dishes and Japanese women, especially housewives, has always been controversial. That is mainly because the use of precooked food in the family context challenged the traditional image of motherhood and housewifery in Japan.

As discussed in the theoretical framework, the provision of homemade food was intertwined with the ideal of good motherhood and housewifery. In modern times, the ideal Japanese women was portrayed as the "good wife and wise mother", who balanced the roles of caregiver, homemaker, and supporter of her husband and children. The traditional housewife was expected to be obedient, humble, and selfless, putting the needs and desires of her husband and family before her own, and prioritizing the well-being of their children and family above their own desires and aspirations. By doing so, she played a crucial role in maintaining the family's social status and reputation, conforming to societal expectations and cultural norms. Through the performance of household activities, Japanese housewives showed their dedication and sacrifice, which were highly valued and recognized as a symbol of Japanese womanhood. One of the main domestic practices carried out by housewife was the making of food, nurturing the family and providing harmony and balance in the household.

This considered, it is clear how hand-made food was embodied in deeper ideological and cultural discourses that shaped the image of housewife and its role in the Japanese society. Precooked food represented a real challenge for homemade meals practices for the following key aspects:

#### 1. TIME and EFFORT

The innovative procedure of side dishes consumption and the consequent cut of all the traditional steps that were centred around the preparation of homemade food went against the

ideal domestic labour related to food making by Japanese housewives. In Japan, traditional concepts of motherhood emphasized the importance of selflessness, devotion, and sacrifice. Mothers were expected to prioritize the well-being of their children and family above their own desires and aspirations. One way for a mother to give support to the family was through the preparation of homemade food. The ideal mother was the one that spent hours in the kitchen. Employing cooking methods that prioritize convenience and speed, such as microwaving or reheating, ready-made meals marked the emergence of new culinary practices that drastically reduce the effort and time that Japanese mothers spend on the preparation and serving of meals, representing a shortcut. With the introduction of side dishes, the traditional food practices that required hours of preparation went missing, leaving space to easier and quicker culinary practices. Now, the Japanese housewife had the possibility to offer a tasty and complete meals to her family without sacrificing herself as she did until then. In other words, the use of side dishes called out the full duty of the housewife to provide homemade meals to the family as a symbol of sacrifice and care.

#### 2. FLAVOR, VARIETY and RESULT:

The main feature of ready-made food is that they are pre-packaged and prepared in a mass-production setting, where efficiency and mass production are the priority. This standardization can lead to a limited range of flavors and a lack of culinary diversity, which may fail to cater to individual tastes and preferences.

However, an accomplished housewife was the one that gave her family "flavor and variety" (Negayama 2000, 91). In accordance, the success in the kitchen environment was ensured by the making of hand-made meals, where seasonal, fresh and high-quality ingredients were used to achieve flavor, nutrition, and taste of the meals.

Therefore, the palatable options proposed in side dishes and the fact that they may not always match the depth of flavors and nuances found in homemade meals challenged the reputation of a housewife who, being the "main performers" of housework, was supposed to excel in all household chores (Nishimura 2001, 228).

#### 3. EMOTIONAL SIGNIFICANCE:

The absence of personal touch, limited involvement, missing cultural and traditional significance and limited personalization often attributed to side dishes withstood the emotional and cultural significance embodied in hand made meals. The vision of hand-made food as

expression of care and love was represented in the ideology of kokoro-o kometa tezukuri ryori (the "handmade" magnetized by mother's love) (Negayama 2000). Through the provision of homegrown food, Japanese mothers established and reinforced emotional connections with her child, in a process of "imprinting" (Negayama 2000, 91).

The consumption of precooked food in place of homemade recipes broke this process, threatening the emotional and affectional dimension of food practices.

Differing from homemade traditional culinary practices, the use of side dishes threatened the ideological and cultural implications around housewifery and woman domesticity, which were at the basis of traditional family dynamics and gender roles expectations. The innovative practices introduced with side dishes consumption and the consequent cut of all the traditional steps that were centred around the preparation of homemade food went against the ideal domestic labour related to food making by Japanese housewives. Breaking down the conventional discourses around womanhood and domesticity, the substitution of homemade meals with side dishes led to the rise of several critics that concerned housewife expectations. However, as previously discussed, the development of the ready-made market and improvement of its products led to a positive turn of precooked perception, soften the critics behind the use of such meals by Japanese mothers.

In the next paragraph, I will analyze the attitude of Japanese women towards side dishes consumption in the household.

#### 3.2. Japanese women attitude towards side dishes

With its challenges to traditional notion of motherhood and the threat to housewives' domestic expectations, Japanese women who used side dishes were exposed to several critics. Especially during the decade of the economic boom, when the conventional modern family and its gender role implications were still a strong feature of Japanese households, the use of ready-made meals by Japanese women was followed by severe judgements.

On the one hand, with the deep-rooted idea that homemade cooking was a sign of the love of a mother for her family still in auge in pre-war Japan, it was hard for Japanese housewives to rely on side dishes without stumbling across severe critics concerning lack of affection and benevolence (Toyo 2021, 46). On the same premise, commercial baby food was rejected

because it prevented the mother from establishing an intimate relationship with her child through food personally made (Negayama 2000, 91).

On the other hand, acquiring her value by her mothering, the Japanese *oku-san* could run into a real loss of public morality if she failed to carry out a domestic procedure (White 1987). Therefore, the avoidance of homemade plates and the use of precooked dishes in their place was considered a sign of low moral status and laziness (Hasegawa and Sakai 2021). In the article "The women of today are lazy" reported by Jolivet (2003), the relation between laziness and mothers who gave ready-made food to their children is explicit (p.91).

Moreover, the relation between the use of pre-made food and Japanese housewives' indolence was reinforced by popular saying that circulated in the Japanese society like "*Okaasan yasume*, *Haha kitoku*" (Mother take a rest, Mother is on her deathbed) (Seligman 1994, 174).

Influenced by the public criticism, the attitude of Japanese women towards the use of ready-made meals has always been controversial. In spite of this, ready meals did not immediately emerge as a viable solution for Japanese housewives, but rather the opposite. Worsened by the higher pressing expectations about motherhood and housewifery, throughout all the period of economic growth in the 1960s, the use of ready-to-eat meals by housewives was mostly "accompanied by a sense of guilt" (Hasegawa and Sakai 2021, 2). These concerns led to a tendency to avoid the consumption of ready-made meals in the first decades after its introduction (Otsuka 1982).

However, as highlighted in the previous sections, among the socio-cultural factors that have influenced the increase in the use of prepacked food, the increase of working women is the most significant. In fact, despite the critics behind the use of precooked dishes were strong, as the increase of working housewives, the use of ready-made meals came about almost as an inevitable necessity to reconcile work and home commitments.

In her article about domestic affairs, Ruriko Shirota, a 45 years old housewife from Tokyo claims that:

"When I had to work overtime and come home late, I had no choice but to arrange ready-made side dishes on the plate. This dinner scene is commonplace for working housewives." ('母とは正反対の「完璧な主婦」に執着しすぎて落ちた穴' 2020).

Ruriko's testimony is similar to that of other Japanese working women who see side dishes as a necessity, representing the most convenient meal options that require minimal cooking and preparation.

Other than in relation to socio-economic factors, in recent years, the use of ready-made meals has also been linked to other cultural tendencies that are spreading among Japanese young women, such as a lack of interests in preparing food and the lowering of their cooking skills (Merve Yanar and Barry 2020). The results of the Dietary Habits Comprehensive Survey monitored by Kewpie in 2013 revealed new interesting trends about Japanese women attitude towards food making. Targeted to married women aged between 20 to 59 years old, the aim of the research was to analyze the behavior and awareness regarding cooking among Japanese housewives. The answers of the candidates showed new current compared to previous years, revealing two main tendencies. Firstly, Japanese women tent to spend less time cooking, shortening their cooking times. Secondly, there was a decline in their cooking skills. These trends seem to have developed simultaneously with a changing perception of cooking duties. According to several public surveys, more and more women are expressing a feeling of uneasiness in regards of the responsibility of preparing food for the family. The press release PR TIMES reported the results of a nationwide survey conducted in 2019 by Taihei Family Set, underlining a significant trend among Japanese women. According to the report, more than 80% of the working women interviewed in the questionnaire answered that they "feel burdened when preparing food" (Taihei Family Set 2019). This sense of discomfort about food making exacerbated in another tendency. The same press published the results of another interesting surveys about Japanese housewives' attitude towards the "emotional fulfillment" derived from meal preparation (Taihei Family Set 2019). Apparently, the sense of guilt originated from the lack of homemade recipes on the family dinner table has been steady reducing over the years. Similarly, the shaming feeling of using precooked food have also decreased drastically.

Despite this changing attitude, the use of ready-made meals is still generating contradictory viewpoints among Japanese mothers. The survey conducted by Taihei Family Set in 2019, a home delivery health-food company, showed the thoughts on ready-made food and eating out of 112 women between their 30s and 50s. According to their responses, there are varied perspectives on the use of ready-made food. Some women expressed a sense of guilt but find it convenient and time-saving. Others emphasize the importance of home-cooked meals for family members, focusing on nutritional balance and the effort put into preparing meals. For working housewives, both options are seen as helpful in managing their busy schedules, and

they are seen as occasional treats rather than regular choices. Cost is also a factor to consider, as eating out can be expensive. Overall, the consensus is that while occasional use of eating out and ready-made food is acceptable, it is important to prioritize home-cooked meals for a sense of control, nutrition, and family bonding.

## 3.3. Shifting dynamics

In this section, I will examine the impact of women's evolving attitudes towards the utilization of pre-made meals on the development of novel family dynamics within the Japanese household, despite the contentious nature of this phenomenon. In the previous chapters I have outlined the relation between side dishes and housewifery, pointing out how the use of precooked food has challenged the traditional notion of motherhood and the controversy that it brought up among Japanese housewives. Despite the ambivalent feeling derived from the use of precooked food, the consumption of side dishes appears to be more normalized among Japanese women. More and more Japanese housewives seem to have come to terms with the discontent that the use of pre-cooked food can cause, accepting even the possible criticism. Confirming this, there are both statics about the increasing use of pre-cooked food (see chapter 3) and personal blogs where Japanese women express their thoughts. The website「巣ごもる ブログー sugomoru burogu」, literally translated as "nest blog", emerged as a platform where Japanese women discuss about domestic affairs. On the page, it is possible to find the testimonies of housewives about family lifestyle. For example, the 40 years old full-time housewife Iko expressed her lack of will to cook homemade food for herself and her husband, defining herself as a "lazy full-time housewife". However, she does not use the term 'lazy' in a derogatory but only descriptive way, and she suggests the use of precooked food as a possible solution to her issue (Iko 2023). Another significant aspect highlighted by Iko is that her husband cooks for her at least 3 days per week. This reflects a broader trend that it is spreading among Japanese households, which consists in a major involvement of fathers in the household chores. The results of the internet survey conducted by Bulk Co., Ltd. In 2017 on the frequency of meal preparation by husbands showed that "among all married women in their 30s and 40s, 61.4% of husbands cook, and 31.5% of them cook at least once a week" (Bulk Co., Ltd. 2017). This shift of cooking responsibilities inside the household appears to be supported by the use of side dishes. The website Pigeon. Info provides interesting insights about the use of side dishes in Japanese households and its link to shifting gender dynamics ('育児ママ相談室' n.d.). Discussing about husband's lunch, Japanese women expressed their negative opinion

about the duties of preparing food for their partner, rejecting the society's expectations and addressing the issue including their husbands. Following, I will report some relevant comments made by different users.

#### Mama Nemo says:

"I'm a full-time housewife, but I'm a lot of frozen food. It's always going to be the same lunch box. Is your husband not good at eating out? Frozen food and retort pouches are also on the market in the restaurant industry. If you have any complaints, I think you s hould make it yourself, and (I say so to my husband) I think I'll make it a hinomaru ben to"

### Another user says:

"If my husband said that, he would be angry!!!! Is frozen food that bad? I'm using it normally!!!! Although I say that I'm lazy, the quality of frozen food now is better than it was in the past."

#### Mikochin-san:

"Working part-time and raising a child, making lunch boxes is hard work, isn't it? Frozen food is also of good quality.

How about having your husband make it for you?

I hope you know how hard it is.

On the contrary, I want to thank you for making it."

#### Mr. Yutto:

"It sounds like you were raised with a lot of care by your mother-in-law. Working part-time, raising children, and making lunches for my husband is truly mind-boggling. I'm a no-good housewife, so w hen I can't get up in the morning, my husband makes his own bento and feeds the kids breakfast"

#### Tsuu-san:

"If it were me, I wouldn't make it if I was told that. We say that if we complain, nothing will be done. I'm a full-time housewife, but I only put frozen food and leftovers from dinner in my bento. I make tamagoyaki every other day. If you're going to complain, why don't you let your husband make it once?"

The reviews provide insights into the perspectives of Japanese housewives regarding the use of ready-made meals in their households. It is evident that utilizing such meals is viewed as a

commonplace practice necessitated by the hectic lifestyles of contemporary Japanese housewives. The reviewers express frustration when facing criticism for relying on ready-made meals, even suggesting that their husbands should attempt to prepare meals themselves. This discourse highlights a distinct shift in women's attitudes toward household responsibilities compared to previous generations. Holloway (2010) reported a survey conducted in 2005 by the National Women's Education Center. The survey findings indicate that mothers in the study tended to accept the gendered division of labor within their families, revealing that women placed minimal importance on their husbands' involvement in household chore (p.113). According to the author, this acceptance could reflect sings of resignation, depression, or even fear (p.115). Conversely, the observations above mentioned shed light on new possible dynamics at play within marital relationships and highlight the potential shift of both emotions experienced by women and division of relationship in such arrangements.

Another important evidence that advises the understanding of side dishes as potential tool in reshaping the role of Japanese mother within the family is the promotion of precooked meals as special commodity targeted to mothers. Today, it is possible to find in the market resellers of ready-made meals that provide side dishes options specifically for mothers. It is the case of the online shop 「ママの休食 - mama no kyushoku」<sup>9</sup>, literally translated as "the rest of the mother", which offers a wide variety of precooked meals with the aim of supporting the mother with quick but also healthy and fresh meals for the whole family, and ensuring she has some extra time to rest. In addition, the catalogue of the shop also presents a line of precooked products designed as gift for Mother's Day. The objective is to free the mother from the heavy load of preparing dinner when she is tired, giving her a delicious and balanced "rest food" 「休食」 that she can enjoy with the rest of the family.

Promoted as a gift, side dishes have transitioned from being perceived as emblematic of idleness and minimal effort to serving as a mean through which Japanese housewives can momentarily disengage from the demands of culinary obligations, affording them valuable personal time and the opportunity for rest.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Official website: https://shop.mamakyu.com

#### CONCLUSION

Over the past few decades, Japanese households' dynamics have undergone important changes according to the socio-cultural circumstances of contemporary Japan. In the family context, new realities concerning womanhood and housewifery, such as the housewife crisis and the increase of full-time employed women, have impacted different aspects of the Japanese households' domestic routines. The changes in women lifestyle and work styles have threatened the boundaries of families' everyday practices, including its eating habits (Sato, 2003). The fast-paced modern lifestyle of Japanese housewives has had a significant impact on the approach to food and meal preparation within the household. Presently, Japanese women seek quick and convenient meal solutions that minimize the need for extensive preparation time. As a matter of fact, women advancement and their more active collaboration in the workforce have been related to the widespread consumption of side dishes as home meals replacement, a relevant eating habits that has significantly increased in Japanese households over the years (Yamada Consulting Group 2020).

Sociological researches have demonstrated that food practices are a pivotal aspect in household dynamics, establishing parental and gender roles expectations (Murcott 1982; Charles and Kerr 1988; DeVault 1991; Gregory 1999). In modern Japan, homemade food practices were embedded with traditional concept of womanhood, which depicted the Japanese housewife as the *ryōsai kembo* "good wife, wise mother" (White 1987).

Based on these premises, my thesis aimed at highlighting the role played by ready-made meals in reshaping women domesticity, both supporting and entitling new approaches to housewifery. The developments of the ready-made industry and the improvement of its products successfully created a commodity that perfectly meet the needs of contemporary Japanese families. Thanks to its positive evolution, since the beginning of the 21<sup>st</sup> century, side dishes have started to be accepted by the consumers as a valid substitution to homemade meals. This factor, combined with the socio-economic changes that have influenced the role of women in Japanese society, has resulted in precooked meals becoming an important part of Japanese eating habits.

The treatment of processed ingredients in place of hand-made food enabled the detachment from traditional and conservative conceptions of food practices and the expectations around housewife's duties that were embedded in them.

The use of side dishes and the consequent departure from conventional cooking and serving rituals helped Japanese women distancing themselves from the obligations and commitments attributed to the traditional housewife. Accordingly, the consumption of side dishes has

influenced the shifting attitudes of Japanese women toward culinary responsibilities, both within the realm of cooking and more broadly within the context of domestic duties.

The contemporary Japanese housewife is increasingly beginning to distance herself from the depiction of the "good wife, wise mother", who was constricted in the domestic realm of the house, where precise gender roles and balances were confirmed. In contemporary times, the Japanese homemaker exhibits a tendency to allocate increased personal time for self-care, pursuing professional pursuits, and cultivating personal interests. Furthermore, there is a notable shift in the distribution of household responsibilities, as the husband no longer adheres strictly to the traditional role of the salaryman, but actively engages in sharing domestic duties, getting closer to the figure of the "nurturing father" (Nakatani 2006).

On a practical level, through the use of precooked meals, Japanese housewives had the chance to shorten significantly the time spend in preparing food, which covered a significant part of traditional household chores, having more time to dedicate to herself.

On an ideological and cultural level, ready-made food challenges the dietary practices through which traditional family dynamics and gender role expectations were established.

New modern culinary procedures and the departure from the traditional homemade food practices and their cultural implications gave the possibility to the Japanese housewife to provide her family with tasty and complete meals, without sacrificing herself and compromising her on well-being. In other words, the use of side dishes called out the heavy duty of the housewife to prepare and offer homemade meals as a symbol of sacrifice, care and benevolence. Facilitated by a shared sense of burden when it comes to food preparation, an increasing number of Japanese women are starting to reject the idea of the housewife who masters the art of cooking and carries all the responsibilities of the house.

Despite the spread of new attitudes and opinions on housewifery among Japanese women, the process of housewife emancipation is slower and harder in Japan than in other countries, as Japanese women are more eligible to show a "tendency to experience rivalry and conflict between their identities as mothers, which are rooted in relation with others, and as individuals, which are based on development of the self" (Cao et al. 2012).

Indeed, contrasting feelings have also emerged in the use of side dishes, which, due to their defiance of traditional views of housewifery, have often generated a sense of guilt and frustration among women who use them regularly.

Nevertheless, in spite of the controversies surrounding this subject, my research proposes a perspective that views ready-made food, with its hybrid features, as a means of empowering

women and sustaining contemporary housewives' lifestyles. While disrupting traditional domestic expectations, side dishes seemed to have encouraged the emergence of new perception of housewifery in Japanese households, making room for cultural narratives which promote an ideal of womanhood freed from traditional domestic constrains.

# **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Akiko, Niwa, and Tomiko Yoda. 'The Formation of the Myth of Motherhood in Japan'. *US-Japan Women's Journal. English Supplement*, no. 4 (1993): 70–82.
- Albala, Ken, and Rosanna Nafziger Henderson. *The Lost Art of Real Cooking: Rediscovering the Pleasures of Traditional Food One Recipe at a Time*. Penguin, 2010.
- Allison, Anne. 'Japanese Mothers and Obentōs: The Lunch-Box as Ideological State Apparatus'. *Anthropological Quarterly*, 1991, 195–208.
- Arnott, Margaret L. 'Gastronomy: The Anthropology of Food Habits'. *The Hague, Mouton,* 1976.
- Basic Act on Shokuiku (Food and Nutrition Education) (2005). https://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/en/laws/view/3419/en.
- Beeton, Isabella. Mrs. Beeton's Book of Household Management: The 1861 Classic with

  Advice on Cooking, Cleaning, Childrearing, Entertaining, and More. Simon and Schuster,

  2015.
- Bocanegra, Mimi, Mailin Lemke, Roelof AJ De Vries, and Geke DS Ludden. 'Commensality or Reverie in Eating? Exploring the Solo Dining Experience'. In *Proceedings of the 2022 International Conference on Multimodal Interaction*, 25–35, 2022.
- Bulk Co., Ltd. '『30代40代女性のライフスタイルに関する自主調査 第6 弾 : 「料理」について』', 2017. <a href="https://www.vlcank.com/mr/3040female\_lifestyle/?p=972">https://www.vlcank.com/mr/3040female\_lifestyle/?p=972</a>.
- Cabinet Office. 'Marriage Consciousness Survey'. Public Opinion Survey on Gender Equal Society, 2017. <a href="https://winet-nwec-go-jp.translate.goog/toukei/search/?catid=444&">https://winet-nwec-go-jp.translate.goog/toukei/search/?catid=444&</a> x tr sl=ja& x tr tl=en& x tr hl=nl.
- Cao, Yang, Shigeru Matsumoto, and Tadahiko Murata. 'Married Women's Lifestyles in Japan:

  Disparities Based on the Number of Children'. *The Review of Socionetwork Strategies* 6

  (2012): 1–14.
- Charles, Nickie, and Marion Kerr. *Women, Food, and Families*. Manchester: Manchester University Press, 1988.
- Cwiertka, Katarzyna Joanna. *Modern Japanese Cuisine: Food, Power and National Identity*. Reaktion Books, 2006.
- Dales, Laura. 'Ohitorisama, Singlehood and Agency in Japan'. *Asian Studies Review* 38, no. 2 (3 April 2014): 224–42. https://doi.org/10.1080/10357823.2014.902033.

- Delphy, Christine. 'Sharing the Same Table: Consumption and the Family'. *The Sociological Review* 28, no. 1\_suppl (1980): 214–31.
- DeVault, Marjorie L. Feeding the Family: The Social Organization of Caring as Gendered Work.

  University of Chicago Press, 1991.
- Dickensheets, Tony. 'The Role of the Education Mama'. Japan Quarterly 43, no. 3 (1996): 73.
- Douglas, M. 'Deciphering a Meal. Daedalus, 101 (1), Pp. 61-81. Isbn 00115266', 1972.
- Fieldhouse, P. 'Food and Nutrition: Customs and Culture. London: Croom Helm.(Cited in Askegaard, S., & Madsen, TK 1998)'. The Local and the Global: Exploring Traits of Homogeneity and Heterogeneity in European Food Cultures. International Business Review 7 (1986): 549–68.
- Fujinkoron.jp. '母とは正反対の「完璧な主婦」に執着しすぎて落ちた穴', 2020. <a href="https://fujinkoron.jp/articles/-/2090">https://fujinkoron.jp/articles/-/2090</a>.
- Germov, John. 'Whetting the Appetite: A Taste of the Sociology of Food and Nutrition'. *Annual Review of Health Social Science* 7, no. 1 (1997): 35–46.
- Goldstein-Gidoni, Ofra. 'Consuming Domesticity in Post-Bubble Japan'. In *Consuming Life in Post-Bubble Japan: A Transdisciplinary Perspective*, 107–28. Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press, 2018.
- Gregory, Susan. 'Gender Roles and Food in Families'. In *Gender, Power and the Household*, 60–75. Springer, 1999.
- Hasegawa, Tomoko, and Nobuyuki Sakai. 'Comparing Meal Satisfaction Based on Different

  Types of Tableware: An Experimental Study of Japanese Cuisine Culture'. Foods 10, no. 7

  (2021): 1546.
- Hashimoto, Akiko, and John W. Traphagan. 'Changing Japanese Families'. *Imagined Families, Lived Families: Culture and Kinship in Contemporary Japan*, 2008, 1–12.
- Holloway, Susan D. *Women and Family in Contemporary Japan*. Cambridge University Press, 2010.
- Hot Pepper Gourmet Restaurant Research Institute. '2017年度外食&中食動向(2017年4月~2018年3月:東名阪夕食)', 2018.
  - https://www.hotpepper.jp/ggs/research/article/column/20180925 1.
- Iko. '健康オタクなのにご飯作りたくないなまけもの専業主婦の料理術'. 巣ごもるブログ, 2023. https://blogru.fun/how-to-cook-for-health-nuts-to-easy/.

- Ishige, Naomichi. 'The History of Food Culture Exchange for Long-Term Periods: Japan as an Example'. *Senri Ethnological Studies* 100 (2019): 11–22.
- Iwao, Sumiko. *The Japanese Woman: Traditional Image and Changing Reality*. Free Press, 1993.
- Jackson, Peter, Helene Brembeck, Jonathan Everts, Maria Fuentes, Bente Halkier, Frej Daniel Hertz, Angela Meah, Valerie Viehoff, and Christine Wenzl. *Reframing Convenience Food*. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2018. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-78151-8">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-78151-8</a>.
- Jackson, Peter, and Valerie Viehoff. 'Reframing Convenience Food'. *Appetite* 98 (2016): 1–11. Japan Ready-Made Meal Association. 'White Paper', 2019. <a href="https://www-nsouzai--kyoukai-or-jp.translate.goog/publishing-2/">https://www-nsouzai--kyoukai-or-jp.translate.goog/publishing-2/</a>? x tr sl=ja& x tr tl=it& x tr hl=it& x tr pto=sc.
- ———. 'White Paper', 2022. <a href="https://www-nsouzai--kyoukai-or-jp.translate.goog/publishing-2/">https://www-nsouzai--kyoukai-or-jp.translate.goog/publishing-2/</a>? x tr sl=ja& x tr tl=it& x tr hl=it& x tr pto=sc.
- ——. 'White Paper of Japan Ready-Made Meal Association', 2018. <a href="https://www.nsouzai-kyoukai.or.jp/wp-content/uploads/hpb-media/hakusho2018">https://www.nsouzai-kyoukai.or.jp/wp-content/uploads/hpb-media/hakusho2018</a> digest1.pdf.
- Japan Ready- made Meals Association. "Making Delicious Things": Pursuit of Deliciousness

  That Continues Even as the Times Change [Oishii Mo No Dzu Kuri' ~ Jidai Wa Kawatte Mo

  Tsudzuku Oishi-Sa No Tsuikyū]'. Suzai Japan Ready-Made Meal News, 2021.
- ———. 'The White Paper (Nenban Sō Shiro-Sho Daijesuto-Ban)'. Digest Edition, 2022.
- Jolivet, Muriel. 'Japan: The Childless Society? London and New York'. Routledge, 1997.
- Jolivet, Muriel, and Anne-Marie Glasheen. *Japan: The Childless Society?: The Crisis of Motherhood*. Routledge, 2005.
- Kamo, Yoshinori. 'Husbands and Wives Living in Nuclear and Stem Family Households in Japan'. *Sociological Perspectives* 33, no. 3 (1990): 397–417.
- Kaneda, Hiromitsu. 'Long-Term Changes in Food Consumption Patterns in Japan, 1878-1964', 1967.
- Kingston, Jeff. *Japan's Quiet Transformation: Social Change and Civil Society in the Twenty- First Century.* Psychology Press, 2004.
- Kumagai, Fumie, and Donna Keyser. *Unmasking Japan Today: The Impact of Traditional Values on Modern Japanese Society*. Greenwood Publishing Group, 1996.
- Kumagai, Fumie, and Unmasking Japan Today. 'The Impact of Traditional Value on Modern Japanese Society'. Praeger, Westport, Connecticut, 1996.

- Lyon, Phil, Anne Colquhoun, and Emily Alexander. 'Deskilling the Domestic Kitchen: National Tragedy or the Making of a Modern Myth?' *Food Service Technology* 3, no. 3–4 (2003): 167–75.
- Masahiro, Yamada. 'Parasite Singles Feed on Family System'. *Japan Quarterly* 48, no. 1 (2001): 10.
- Matsumoto, Mai, Aki Saito, Chika Okada, Emiko Okada, Ryoko Tajima, and Hidemi Takimoto. 'Consumption of Meals Prepared Away from Home Is Associated with Inadequacy of Dietary Fiber, Vitamin C and Mineral Intake among Japanese Adults: Analysis from the 2015 National Health and Nutrition Survey'. *Nutrition Journal* 20 (2021): 1–13.
- Mennell, Stephen, Anne Murcott, Anneke H. van Otterloo, and International Sociological Association. 'The Sociology of Food: Eating, Diet and Culture'. (No Title), 1992.
- Merve Yanar, Gürce, and A. Friedman Barry. 'Ready-to-Eat Food Consumption Behavior'.

  Nutrition and Food Science International Journal 9, no. 5 (2020): 555.

  https://doi.org/10.19080/NFSIJ.2020.09.555775.
- Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries. 'Shokuiku Promotion Policies: FY2015 (White Paper on Shokuiku)', 2015.
- Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology. 'Advancement Rate to Higher Education'. School Basic Survey, 2022.
- Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communication. 'Survey on Time Use and Leisure Activities (Weekly Average)', 2021.
- Motoko, Murakami. 'Eating Is a Solitary Pastime'. Japan Quarterly 36, no. 2 (1989): 207.
- Murakami, Kiyoshi. '「主婦論争」再検討'. 現代社会学理論研究 4 (2010): 160-72. https://doi.org/10.34327/sstj.4.0 160.
- Murcott, Anne. "It's a Pleasure to Cook for Him": Food, Mealtimes and Gender in Some South Wales Households'. In *The Public and the Private*. London: Heinemann, 1982.
- Nagase, Nobuko. 'Japanese Youth's Attitudes towards Marriage and Child Rearing'. In *The Changing Japanese Family*, 39–53. Routledge, 2006.
- Nakagawa, Momoko, Miki Nagatsuka, Mima Nishiyama, and Yoshiaki Yoshida. 'The Function and the Possibility of" Kyoshoku" (Eating Together)'. Food and Green Science [Tabemono to Midori No Kagaku], no. 64 (2010): 55–65.

- Nakano, Lynne, and Moeko Wagatsuma. 'Mothers and Their Unmarried Daughters: An Intimate Look at Generational Change'. In *Japan's Changing Generations: Are Young People Ceating a New Society?*, 137–54. London: Routledge, 2005.
- Nakatani, Ayami. 'The Emergence of "Nurturing Fathers": Discourses and Practices of Fatherhood in Contemporary Japan'. In *The Changing Japanese Family*, 94–108. Routledge, 2006.
- Negayama, Koichi. 'Feeding as a Communication Between Mother and Infant in Japan and Scotland'. *Research and Clinical Center For Child Development Annual Report* 22 (2000): 59–68.
- NHK Broadcasting Culture Research Institute. 'Attitudes of Married Women to Have a Job. Women's Data Book (1991/1999)', 2008.
- ———. 'Differences in Awareness between Men and Women Regarding "marriage" and "Division of Housework", 2018.
  - https://www.nhk.or.jp/bunken/summary/yoron/social/060.html.
- Nishimura, Junko. 'Uneasiness of Housewife and Housewife as an Institution: From the Analysis of Life-Story of Midlife Women in Contemporary Japan'. *Family Sociology Research* 12, no. 2 (2001): 223–35.
- Nonoyama, Hisaya. 'The Family and Family Sociology in Japan'. *The American Sociologist* 31, no. 3 (2000): 27–41.
- Otsuka, Masayuki. 'Food Service Hotel Restaurant Institutional'. Global Agricultural Information Network (GAIN). Japan: United States Department of Agriculture, 2021.

  <a href="https://apps.fas.usda.gov/newgainapi/api/Report/DownloadReportByFileName?fileName">https://apps.fas.usda.gov/newgainapi/api/Report/DownloadReportByFileName?fileName=Food%20Service%20-%20Hotel%20Restaurant%20Institutional Tokyo%20ATO Japan 09-30-2021.</a>
- ———. 'Food Service Hotel Restaurant Institutional. Japan HRI Food Service Sector Report 2016'. Global Agricultural Information Network (GAIN), 2016.
  <a href="https://apps.fas.usda.gov/newgainapi/api/Report/DownloadReportByFileName?fileName=Food%20Service%20-%20Hotel%20Restaurant%20Institutional Tokyo%20ATO Japan 2016-12-21.">https://apps.fas.usda.gov/newgainapi/api/Report/DownloadReportByFileName?fileName=Food%20Service%20-%20Hotel%20Restaurant%20Institutional Tokyo%20ATO Japan 2016-12-21.

- Otsuka, Tsutomu. '食における日本の近代化 (Japanese Food Modernizaton) 国連大学人間と社会の開発プログラム', 1982. <a href="https://d-arch.ide.go.jp/je\_archive/pdf/workingpaper/unu\_jpn79.pdf">https://d-arch.ide.go.jp/je\_archive/pdf/workingpaper/unu\_jpn79.pdf</a>.
- 'Reading Papers by Research Theme Conveying "Japan's Experience" Library Institute of Developing Economies JETRO'. Accessed 13 May 2023. <a href="https://d--arch-ide-go-jp.translate.goog/je-archive/society/wp-unu-jpn79.html?">https://d--arch-ide-go-jp.translate.goog/je-archive/society/wp-unu-jpn79.html?</a> x tr sl=ja& x tr tl=it& x tr hl=it& x tr pto=sc.
- Rebick, Marcus, and Ayumi Takenaka. The Changing Japanese Family. Routledge, 2006.
- Sand, Jordan. 'The Housewife's Laboratory'. In *House and Home in Modern Japan*, 55–94.

  Harvard University Asia Center, 2003.
- Sato, Barbara. *The New Japanese Woman: Modernity, Media, and Women in Interwar Japan*.

  Duke University Press, 2003.
- Scholliers, Peter. 'Convenience Foods. What, Why, and When'. Appetite 94 (2015): 2-6.
- jp.translate.goog/toukei/search/?catid=444& x tr sl=ja& x tr tl=en& x tr hl=nl.
- Seligman, Lucy. 'The History of Japanese Cuisine'. *Japan Quarterly* 41, no. 2 (1994).
- Shinozaki, Nana, Kentaro Murakami, Keiko Asakura, Shizuko Masayasu, and Satoshi Sasaki. 'Consumption of Highly Processed Foods in Relation to Overall Diet Quality among Japanese Adults: A Nationwide Study'. *Public Health Nutrition*, 2023, 1–14.
- ———. 'Consumption of Highly Processed Foods in Relation to Overall Diet Quality among Japanese Adults: A Nationwide Study'. *Public Health Nutrition*, 2023, 1–14.
- Smith, Robert J. Japanese Society: Tradition, Self, and the Social Order. CUP Archive, 1983.
- Solt, George. 'Shifting Perceptions Of Instant Ramen In Japan During The High-Growth Era, 1958-1973.' *International Journal of Asia-Pacific Studies* 8, no. 2 (2012).
- Sonobe, Kazuo. 'How Often Do Women in Their 30s and 40s Use Side Dishes and Frozen Foods? Frozen Foods Are Frequently Used in Households with Children of Elementary School Age or Older', 2016. <a href="https://www-vlcank-com.translate.goog/mr/3040female-lifestyle/?p=224&xtr\_sl=ja&xtr\_tl=it&xtr\_hl=it&xtr\_pto=sc.">https://www-vlcank-com.translate.goog/mr/3040female-lifestyle/?p=224&xtr\_sl=ja&xtr\_tl=it&xtr\_hl=it&xtr\_pto=sc.</a>

- 'Statistics Bureau Home Page/News Bulletin July 30, 2021'. Accessed 14 May 2023. <a href="https://www.stat.go.jp/english/info/news/20210730.html">https://www.stat.go.jp/english/info/news/20210730.html</a>.
- 'Statistics Bureau Home Page/Summary of First Basic Complete Tabulation Results'. Accessed 16 May 2023. https://www.stat.go.jp/english/data/kokusei/1995/1513.html.
- Statistics Bureau of Japan. 'Amount of Expenditures and Purchase Frequency of Commodities per Households by Yearly Income (All Households)', 2022.
- ———. 'Expenditures per Household by Sex and Age Groups (All Households)', 2003.
- ——. 'Family Income and Expenditure Survey (Two-or-More-Person Households: May 2021)', 2021. https://www.stat.go.jp/english/info/news/20210730.html.
- ———. 'Population Census and Household Composition', 2015.

  <a href="https://www.stat.go.jp/english/data/kokusei/2015/final\_en/pdf/s01.pdf">https://www.stat.go.jp/english/data/kokusei/2015/final\_en/pdf/s01.pdf</a>.
- ———. 'Population Census. Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications', 1995. https://www.stat.go.jp/english/data/kokusei/1995/1513.html.
- ———. 'The Statistical Handbook of Japan', 2020.

  <a href="https://www.stat.go.jp/english/data/handbook/index.html">https://www.stat.go.jp/english/data/handbook/index.html</a>.
- Taihei Family Set. '30~50代の共働き夫婦の女性112人に聞いた、料理の支度に負担を感じると答えた方は80%超!'. PR TIMES, 2019. https://prtimes.jp/main/html/rd/p/000000003.000048151.html.
- Takeda, Hiroko. 'Talking about Japanese Families: Discursive Politics of the Familial'. In *Japan Forum*, 15:451–64. Taylor & Francis, 2003.
- Takimoto, Hidemi, Nobuko Sarukura, and Kazuko Ishikawa-Takata. 'How to Define Family Meals in "Shokuiku" (Food and Nutrition Education)'. *Journal of Nutritional Science and Vitaminology* 61, no. Supplement (2015): S10–12.
- Tamada, Hazuki, Takeshi Ebara, Taro Matsuki, Sayaka Kato, Hirotaka Sato, Yuki Ito, Shinji Saitoh, et al. 'Impact of Ready-Meal Consumption during Pregnancy on Birth Outcomes: The Japan Environment and Children's Study'. *Nutrients* 14, no. 4 (2022): 895.
- Toyo, Wa. 'Principles of "Love" in Modern Japanese Families: Raising the Standards Required for Home-Cooked Dishes「代日本の家族における「愛情」の 理と手作り料理に求められる水準の上昇—新聞 事の分析から」'. Humanities/Social Sciences 39 (2021).
- Traphagan, John W., and John Knight. *Demographic Change and the Family in Japan's Aging Society*. State University of New York Press, 2003.

- Uehara, Hideki. 'Development and Constraints of Food Industries in Japan'. In *Post-Harvest Technology in Asia. Proceedings of the 5th JIRCAS International Symposium*, 7:201–18, 1999.
- Wang, Shuai. 'Determining Factors of Views Regarding Influence of Women's Employment on Household Life', SSJDA, 69 (2019): 1–11.
- White, Merry. 'The Virtue of Japanese Mothers: Cultural Definitions of Women's Lives'. *Daedalus*, 1987, 149–63.
- Yagi, Kohei, Katsuya Takahashi, Tetsuro Yakushiji, and Nobuhiro Ito. 'The Casuality Among Ready-Made Meal Consumption, Individual Characteristics, and Nutrition Intake:

  Categorical Structural Equation Modeling Analysis', Forest and Fisheries Policy Research, 32 (2020): 1–15.
- Yamada Consulting Group. '中食業界の最新M&A動向 | 山田コンサルティンググループ', 2020. <a href="https://www.ycg-advisory.jp/industry/food/lunch">https://www.ycg-advisory.jp/industry/food/lunch</a>.
- Yamada, Masahiro. Kazoku to Iu Risuku (The Family Risk). Tokyo: Keisō Shobō, 2001.
- Yamashige, Shinji. 'Transformation of the Japanese Society in the 20th Century'. In *Economic Analysis of Families and Society: The Transformation of Japanese Society and Public Policies*, edited by Shinji Yamashige, 3–21. Advances in Japanese Business and Economics. Tokyo: Springer Japan, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-4-431-55909-2 1.
- Yoda, Tomiko. 'The Rise and Fall of Maternal Society: Gender, Labor, and Capital in Contemporary Japan'. *The South Atlantic Quarterly* 99, no. 4 (2000): 865–902.
- ピジョンインフォ. '育児ママ相談室'. Accessed 30 May 2023.

https://pigeon.info/soudan/soudan-20878.html.

ママの休食. 'ママの休食公式ブランドサイト'. Accessed 13 May 2023. https://shop.mamakyu.com/.